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Appropriation and Architecture:
Mary Magdalene in Vézelay

Mariëtte Verhoeven

In the Middle Ages thousands of pilgrims vis-
ited the church on the top of the hill in Vézelay 
because of the presence of the relics of Mary 
Magdalene. Mary Magdalene is an example of a 
saint whose cult was appropriated to a location 
that originally had no connection whatsoever 
with that saint. I engaged with the phenomenon 
of appropriated saints during my PhD research 
on the monuments and memory of Ravenna, 
which was supervised by Sible de Blaauw.1 Ac-
cording to the Passio SS. Martyrum Gervasii et 
Protasii (end fifth, beginning sixth century), St 
Vitalis, whose remains had been excavated by St 
Ambrose in Bologna, suffered his martyrdom in 
Ravenna where his grave became a place of ven-
eration.2 Nowadays the magnificent Church of 
S. Vitale in Ravenna still testifies to the success-
ful appropriation of the Bolognese saint. Other 
famous examples of appropriated saints are St 
Mark in Venice (originally from Alexandria), 
St Nicholas in Bari (originally from Myra), and 
St James in Santiago de Compostela (originally 
from Jerusalem). In all these cases the ingredi-
ents for a successful appropriation include the 
translation of relics, preferably the complete 
body, a written confirmation in the form of a 
passio or translatio, and the disposition of the rel-
ics in a church building that is dedicated to the 
saint. The church building not only confirms 
the appropriation by means of its function as rel-
ic shrine but also keeps this memory alive while 
practically erasing the connection of the saint 
with his or her origins. As well as the case of 
S. Vitale, the churches of St Mark in Venice, of 
St Nicholas in Bari and of St James in Santiago 
de Compostela still testify to the continuity of 
the relocated cult and their function as places of 
pilgrimage.

In Vézelay, however, things developed differ-
ently. According to the Liber Sancti Jacobi, the 
pilgrim’s guide to Santiago de Compostela, the 

most worthy remains of the Blessed Mary Mag-
dalene had to be rightly worshipped in Vézelay, 
‘where they rest up to this day in a much hon-
oured tomb’.3 The Liber Sancti Jacobi was written 
around the middle of the twelfth century, when 
the cult of Mary Magdalene in Vézelay was at 
its height. By the end of the thirteenth century, 
however, Saint-Maximin-de-Provence success-
fully claimed the possession of the body of Mary 
Magdalene and the once so popular pilgrimage 
to Vézelay came to a halt. In this paper I will 
focus on the development of the cult of Mary 
Magdalene in relation to its architectural frame-
work in Vézelay. What was the material setting 
in which the relics were placed and did the pro-
cess of appropriation and its material manifesta-
tion contribute to the loss of the cult in the thir-
teenth century? And how did the relics of this 
biblical saint come to Vézelay in the first place?

Origins and Development of the Cult

The earliest official recognition of the cult of 
Mary Magdalene at Vézelay was a privilege of 
Pope Leo  IX, dated 27 April 1050. It was ad-
dressed to Abbot Gaufredus and it mentions the 
dedication of the monastery of Vézelay to Jesus 
Christ, his mother Mary, the apostles Peter and 
Paul and Mary Magdalene.4 In 1058 Pope Ste-
phan X proclaimed that Mary Magdalene rested 
in the monastery of Vézelay, implying that Vé-
zelay possessed the body of the female saint.5 Be-
sides these official documents, Mary Magdalene 
figures in narratives describing miracles that 
took place in Vézelay. These miracle accounts 
have survived in different versions but all ver-
sions include the story of a soldier from the Au-
vergne who had been freed from imprisonment 
through the intervention of Mary Magdalene 
and who suspended his chains in front of her 
grave at the monastery of Vézelay.6 The most 
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elaborate version of these miracle accounts men-
tions that Abbot Gaufredus found iron chains in 
the monastery and had a balustrade made from 
them, setting it up around the altar.7

Prisoners and chains also figure in narratives 
relating to Conques, Saint-Léonard-de-Noblat 
and Saintes, all of them, like Vézelay places of 
pilgrimage on the way to Santiago de Com-
postela; Conques on the route starting from Le 
Puy, Saint-Léonard on the route from Vézelay 
and Saintes on the one from Paris and Tours. 
The Liber miraculorum of St Foy, the saint whose 
relics were venerated in Conques, contains an 
eyewitness account of Bernard of Angers who 
visited the church in Conques in the early elev-
enth century. Bernard describes the abundance 
of iron grillwork made from chains and fetters 
brought to Sainte-Foy as offerings of thanks 
from prisoners whom she had freed.8 The au-
thor of the already mentioned Liber Sancti Jacobi 
reports about St Leonard that,

his extraordinarily powerful virtues have de-
livered from prison countless thousands of cap-
tives; their iron chains, more barbarous than 
what one can possibly recount, joined together 
by the thousands, have been appended in tes-
timony of such great miracles all around his 
basilica, to the right and to the left, inside and 
outside.9

With regard to Saintes, the author of the Liber 
Sancti Jacobi claims that he found the passio of 
Saintes’s bishop and martyr St Eutropius, which 
was written in Greek by his companion Diony-
sius, in a Greek school at Constantinople, and 
translated it into Latin. According to this passio, 
in the church that the Christians erected in his 
honour over the saintly body of Eutropius, iron 
chains and handcuffs were to be found hanging, 
along with various other iron instruments from 
which Eutropius had freed those enchained in 
them.10

At Conques in the extreme left-hand corner 
of the tympanum of the Romanesque church, 
an iron fetter hanging from a beam can be seen 
behind the kneeling figure of St Foy, and the 
iron grill work, supposedly made from chains 
and fetters as described by Bernard of Angers, 

still stands between the columns that separate 
the choir from the ambulatory.

Pilgrims badges originating from Saint-
Léonard-de-Noblat attest that chains became 
St Leonard’s fixed attribute in his function of 
patron saint of prisoners.11

In the case of Vézelay, apart from the miracle 
accounts, there is no material evidence of the 
veneration of Mary Magdalene in her role as in-
tervener in the liberation of prisoners. The sus-
pension of chains in front of her grave and the 
balustrade that Abbot Gaufredus had made from 
them seems to be an topos that was borrowed 
from the comparable miracle accounts that cir-
culated during the eleventh century, rather than 
a description of the actual situation in Vézelay, 
as has been suggested.12 It is not possible to de-
termine whether the Vézelay miracle accounts 
led to the official recognition of a connection 
between Mary Magdalene and Vézelay in 1050 
and 1058 or if these accounts proceeded from 
it.13 Mary Magdalene was venerated before 1050 
in other places in France and Vézelay may have 
been one of them.14 It also seems logical that the 
official recognition of the presence of the relics 
of Mary Magdalene in Vézelay was the confir-
mation of some kind of cult that already existed, 
but there is no way to be certain.

As for the explanation of how the relics of 
Mary Magdalene came from Palestine to Vé-
zelay, the author of the miracle accounts re-
sponds to pilgrims who doubted the presence 
of the relics in Vézelay, ‘that anything is pos-
sible to God’.15 However, the Gestes des évêques 
de Cambrai mention Badilon, Abbot of Leuze, 
as the agent who brought the body of Mary 
Magdalene from Jerusalem into Burgundy, 
into the town of Vézelay.16 Around the middle 
of the eleventh century two different accounts 
arise of how the relics of Mary Magdalen came 
to Vézelay from Provence.17 According to one 
version, Adelelmus (Aleaume), brother of Ab-
bot Eudes of Vézelay, brought the relics from 
Provence around 882‑84.18 A second version re-
lates how the monk Badilon brought the relics 
from Aix-en-Provence to Vézelay by order of 
Gerard of Roussillon.19 These accounts not only 
give an explanation for the presence of the relics 
of Mary Magdalene in Vézelay but also claim 
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that the translation from Provence occurred in 
the ninth century. Moreover, the antedating ties 
in with the building history of the monastery 
and church.

In 858‑59, Gerard of Roussillon and his wife 
Bertha founded a nunnery in Saint-Père-sous-
Vézelay.20 This nunnery was destroyed during 
Norman raids and refounded c. 877 as a monas-
tery and church on top of the hill in Vézelay.21 
It was, however, not dedicated to Mary Mag-
dalene but to Jesus Christ, the Virgin Mary and 
the apostles Peter and Paul.22 The first mention 
of Mary Magdalene in relation to the church 
in Vézelay dates, as we have seen, from the 
eleventh century. But, according to the Trans-
latio SS. Eusebii et Pontiani, a source that can be 
dated back to Carolingian times, Vézelay was in 
the possession of relics: the author relates how 
Gerard of Roussillon and his wife Bertha ac-
quired the relics of Eusebius and Pontianus from 
the pope in Rome. On their way back to Véze-
lay, they also obtained relics of Sts Andeolus and 
Hostianus in Viviers.23 According to tradition 
the relics of Eusebius and Hostianus ended up in 
Pothières, and those of Andeolus and Pontianus 
in Vézelay.24 The ninth-century Translatio SS. 
Eusebii et Pontiani was possibly the inspiration for 
the eleventh-century accounts explaining how 
the relics of Mary Magdalene came to Vézelay 
from Provence. The latter were probably also 
inspired by the furta sacra account of Conques, 
which treats of the secret theft of the body of St 
Foy in Agen and its translation to Conques in 
the ninth century.25

The Architectural Setting

We have no information about the form of the 
ninth-century church that was built on top 
of the hill in Vézelay by Gerard of Roussillon 
and his wife Bertha. The church was rededi-
cated in 1104 under Abbot Artaud (1096‑1106), 
after a complete rebuilding of the choir part.26 
If indeed no major changes took place between 
the initial building period in the ninth century 
and Artaud’s reconstruction, this means that the 
church was not designed for housing the relics of 
Mary Magdalene. A vita of the saint dating from 
before 1180‑90 mentions that Abbot Gaufredus 

wanted to demolish the exiguam cryptam in which 
the body of Mary Magdalene was kept, in order 
to replace it with a more important and richer 
grave.27 Francis Salet concluded in 1948 that this 
‘diminutive crypt’ referred to a still existing con-
fessio in the ninth-century crypt.28 Recent ar-
cheological research has shown, however, that 
the eastern termination of the ninth-century 
church was located further west than the west-
ern wall of the confessio in the existing crypt.29 
Christian Sapin therefore concludes that the ex-
iguam cryptam mentioned in the twelfth-century 
vita refers to a setting, possibly a crypt confessio 
or small grave chamber in the Carolingian choir 
that terminated in a straight wall.30 It was only 
with the reconstruction of the choir under Ab-
bot Artaud (1096‑1106) that a hall crypt with 
lateral accesses, a common type in the eleventh 
century, was constructed, now with a confessio 
in the form of a deep barrel vaulted niche at the 
western end, and a fenestella in both side walls 
of the niche.31 This new setting was most likely 
designed to provide a worthier resting place for 
the relics of Mary Magdalene.

That the relics of Mary Magdalene prob-
ably had been put from the beginning in a 
relatively small sepulchre, of which the form 
is unknown, also becomes clear from the elev-
enth-century translation account relating how 
the monk Badilon brought the relics from Aix-
en-Provence to Vézelay by order of Gerard of 
Roussillon (see above).32 The author describes 
how Badilon and his companions, before they 
arrived in Vézelay and before they brought 
the body of Mary Magdalene into the church, 
‘separated the longer bones of the body and put 
them alongside the rest of the body so that they 
could fit it into a smaller place’. The author gives 
no further details or description of the sepulchre 
or the place in which it was put. This contrasts 
with his detailed description of the tomb of 
Mary Magdalene in Aix-en-Provence in which 
Badilon had discovered the whole body: ‘The 
carving of this sepulchre revealed her whose 
bodily remains were preserved within it. Cov-
ering its surface was a piece of work, rather 
like bas-relief, [showing] how Mary Magda-
lene […]’, and then the author continues with a 



Mariëtte Verhoeven

110

Fig. 1. Vézelay, Church of St Mary Magdalene, altar in the south transept of the church. Photo by the author.
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description of events from her life which were 
depicted on the tomb.33

On 21 July 1120, the eve of the feast day of 
Mary Magdalene, the church in Vézelay was 
devastated by a large fire after which the con-
struction of the present nave started under Ab-
bot Renaud (1106‑28).34 In 1132 the so-called 
‘Church of the Pilgrims’ was dedicated in the 
presence of Pope Innocent II.35 By 1140 the main 
body of the church was certainly completed, the 
narthex and façade some 10 years later.36 After 
another fire in 1165, a new Gothic choir and 
transept was built.37 Hugh of Poitiers, author of 
the Vézelay or Major Chronicle, written shortly 
after 1165, describes the fire in the church and 
states that

In the vault above the tomb of God’s blessed 
lover Mary Magdalene such a blaze acciden-
tally broke out that even the supports above it, 
which the French call beams, were burnt. But 
the wooden image of Mary, blessed mother of 
God, which stood on the floor of the vault, was 
not harmed by the fire at all, although it was a 
little blackened.38

This text passage is the oldest surviving testi-
mony of the crypt being the location where the 
relics of Magdalene were disposed and it con-
firms that in 1165 the relics were still kept in the 
crypt.39 We are also told that, besides the tomb 
of Mary Magdalene, a wooden statue of the Vir-
gin Mary stood on the floor of the crypt. In fact, 
the author of the chronicle pays much more at-
tention to the statue of the Virgin Mary and the 
relics it contained – among which were bones 
of the apostles Peter, Paul, Andrew, James and 
Bartholomew – than to the tomb of Mary Mag-
dalene. The disposition of tomb and statue in 
the crypt is unknown. The fact that the wooden 
statue miraculously survived the fire could mean 
that it stood in the confessio niche while the tomb 
of Mary Magdalene stood in the central space 
of the crypt where wooden beams caught fire. 
An opposite arrangement, however, is also pos-
sible.40 As for the tomb, Francis Salet suggested 
that the main part of the altar that now stands in 
the south transept of the church (Fig. 1) consists 
of the tomb with fenestella in which Gerard of 
Roussillon disposed the relics of Mary Magda-

lene and which was placed in the confessio niche 
of the crypt in the ninth century.41 As has been 
shown, however, the translation of the relics of 
Mary Magdalene from Provence was an elev-
enth-century invention and the confessio niche 
likewise dates from the end of the eleventh or 
the beginning of the twelfth century. Christian 
Sapin suggests a form for the tomb in the crypt 
that is comparable with that of St Magnance; 
a freestanding sculptured sarcophagus (Fig. 2).42 
Sapin refers, without further specification, to 
fragments in the museum that could have been 
part of such a tomb. It is likely that he refers to 
three fragments in ‘Autun style’ in the Musée de 
l’Œuvre Viollet-le-Duc in Vézelay, which were 
found during the demolition in the nineteenth 
century of both the altar and pavement of the 
first chapel to the south of the choir.43 The sub-
ject of the carvings on these fragments is un-
known but the standing figure on the fronton-
like piece can be identified as a soldier (Fig. 3). It 
is therefore tempting to suppose that it is the sol-
dier from the Auvergne who was freed from im-
prisonment through the intervention of Mary 
Magdalene and who suspended his chains in 
front of her grave at the monastery of Vézelay.44 
This would have been an appropriate subject for 
the tomb of Mary Magdalene or for the altar of 
the Romanesque choir to which the fragments 
(dated 1120‑40) also have been attributed.45

After the fire of 1165, not only were a new 
Gothic choir and transept constructed but the 
crypt was also enlarged to a size that corre-
sponded with the new choir.46 Only the western 
wall of the Romanesque crypt, including the 
confessio, remained; the fenestellae, however, were 
now walled up. This made it impossible to see 
into the confessio niche from the church. To see 
the relics one had to descend the lateral stairs 
which gave entrance to the crypt.47 The Gothic 
crypt consisted of three naves divided into six 
groin vaulted bays. In order to realize the new 
crypt, the rocky bottom was excavated, leaving 
a part of it visible, probably to create the impres-
sion of a cave.

In the eleventh and twelfth centuries we see 
an increase in the phenomenon of elevatio, the 
translation of relics from the crypt to the main 
altar or to a location that is connected with it.48 
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The rebuilding of the church at Saint-Denis in 
the 1130s under Abbot Suger included a trans-
lation of the relics of the patron saint and his 
companions Rusticus and Eleutherius from the 
Carolingian crypt to the new upper choir with-
out abandoning the space of the crypt.49

At Autun the relics of St Lazarus were dis-
posed in the Cathedral of St Nazarius. Around 
the middle of the twelfth century the relics 
were transferred to a church dedicated to the 
saint, the construction of which had started in 
1119. The relics were placed in the choir in a 
free-standing monumental marble mausole-
um, measuring 5.50 × 2.20 (width of the inner 

space) × 6 m.50 The setting at Autun was that of 
a church enclosing a miniature church which in 
its turn contained a tomb with the relics of St 
Lazarus and a staging of his resurrection, with 
statues of Christ, St Peter, St Andrew, the Vir-
gin Mary, and Mary Magdalene. A reconstruc-
tion of this setting and the remains of the marble 
mausoleum, including the statues of St Andrew, 
the Virgin Mary, and Mary Magdalene, are 
now exhibited at the Rolin Museum in Autun 
(Fig. 4).

For nearby Saulieu, also, it is attested that in 
1119 the relics of St Andoche and other saints 
were elevated from the crypt to the choir by 

Fig. 2. Sainte-Magnance, sarcophagus of St Magnance in the church named after the saint. Photo by the 
author.
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Pope Calixtus.51  For Vézelay, however, there 
is no evidence that either the rebuilding of the 
choir under Abbot Artaud at the beginning of 
the eleventh century, or the reconstruction of 
choir, transept and crypt after the fire of 1165, 
involved an elevatio of the relics of Mary Mag-
dalene to the upper church.52 If indeed the relics 
were not transferred to the upper choir, and if 
they could only be seen if one descended the 
stairs of the crypt, what other references to the 
presence of, and the dedication to, Mary Mag-
dalene where there for a pilgrim visiting the 
church in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries? 
Not many, so it seems. Remarkably enough, 
the female saint does not appear in any of the 
scenes of the sculptural programme for which 
the church became famous: the capitals of the 
nave and the tympanums above the entrances 
to the nave dating from 1120‑40.53 Only in the 

west façade, which was constructed together 
with the narthex c. 1140‑50, does the lintel be-
neath the central tympanum show scenes from 
the lives of Mary Magdalene and Lazarus. Both 
tympanum and lintel were removed in 1851 by 
Viollet-le-Duc and placed against the south side 
of the church. Because of weathering, the carv-
ings on the lintel are hardly recognizable but 
two of them have been identified as the Resur-
rection of Lazarus and Mary Magdalene kneel-
ing in front of Jesus Christ.54

Around 1240‑50 the upper part of the façade 
was decorated with a large window and gable 
with monumental statues (Fig. 5).55 A statue of 
Mary Magdalene stands in the apex of the ga-
ble, for the viewer to the right of the remains of 
the figure of Christ seated. To the left of Christ 
appears the figure of the Virgin Mary. Both of 
them are mentioned in the original dedication 

Fig. 3. Fragment of a fronton-like piece of sculpture (c. 1120–40) found during the demolition in the nine-
teenth century of both the altar and pavement of the first chapel to the south of the choir of the Church of St 
Mary Magdalene in Vézelay. Vézelay: Musée de l’Œuvre Viollet-le-Duc. Photo by the author.
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of the church (see above), as are Peter and Paul 
whose statues stand as the third and second from 
the left in the row of saints beside the window 
of the gable.56

Appropriation of an Appropriated Saint

It has been suggested that the decoration of the 
west façade in 1240‑50, including a monumental 
statue of Mary Magdalene, must be seen in the 
light of the debate on the authenticity and pos-
session of the relics of the saint.57 In addition to 
the accounts that relate how the relics of Mary 
Magdalen came to Vézelay from Provence, the 
Vita apostolica beatae Mariae Magdalenae, a crea-
tion of Vézelay, explains how Mary Magdalene 
had arrived in Provence in the first place and, 
after a life of seclusion, was buried in Aix-en-

Provence.58 A cult of Mary Magdalene existed 
in Provence since the beginning of the twelfth 
century and it seems that Vézelay was defeated 
by its own weapons when Aix-en-Provence 
claimed possession of the tombs containing the 
bodies of Mary Magdalene and Maximinus, 
the founders of the church of Aix.59 A charter 
of Archbishop Rostan de Fos (1056‑82) which 
confirmed the possession of the tombs (‘sepul-
crum utriusque apud nos’) was a forgery dating 
from the beginning of the thirteenth century 
when the claim was made.60

Whether or not forced by the claim made 
by Aix-en-Provence, in 1265 a ceremony for 
the verification of the relics of Mary Magda-
lene took place at Vézelay.61 A letter written by 
the bishops of Auxerre and Banias describes the 
ceremony on the night of the 4 October 1265 

Fig. 4. Reconstruction of the free-standing monumental marble mausoleum containing the tomb of St La-
zarus and a staging of his resurrection in the Church of St Lazarus in Autun. Autun: Musée Rolin. Photo by 
the author.
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Fig. 5. Vézelay, Church of St Mary Magdalene, upper part of the façade with a statue of Mary Magdalene 
in the apex of the gable, to the right of the remains of the figure of Christ seated, , c. 1240–50. Photo by the 
author.
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at which both were present. It mentions that 
the ceremony took place at the location where, 
according to tradition, the relics were disposed, 
namely ‘subtus magnum altare’. The reason 
for the verification is also given: so few relics 
were displayed in the church that some pilgrims 
questioned their presence.62 Then follows a de-
scription of the inventio during which a metal-
lic box that contained human remains wrapped 
in two pieces of silk fabric was exhumed from 
underneath the main altar. The identification 
of the relics as being those of Mary Magda-
lene was corroborated by the find of a luxuri-
ant female hair and a testimonial letter by King 
Charles.63

The inventio of 1265 was followed by a trans-
latio of the relics during Easter 1267 in presence 
of King Louis IX and the papal legate Simon de 
Brion.64 In July of the same year Louis sent two 
precious reliquaries containing relics of Mary 
Magdalene, entrusted to him on the occasion 
of the translation, to the monastery of Vézelay. 
A letter from the king accompanying the reli-
quaries mentions that the relics consisted of 
an arm, a jaw and three teeth of the female 
saint.65 The arm was set in a piece of precious 
silverware in the form of a stretched arm with 
an opened hand, and the jaw and teeth in an-
other piece that was pressed between the hands 
of a gilded angel. Moreover, in gratitude for 
donating to him a ‘substantial portion’ of the 
relics of Mary Magdalene, King Louis in re-
turn gave several relics from his own treasury, 
which partially derived from Constantinople 
and included a fragment of the True Cross, 
two thorns of the crown of thorns and various 
fragments of clothing of the Lord. These ad-
ditional relics were placed in the hand of the 
arm reliquary.

Francis Salet supposed that during the inven-
tio the relics were found in the confessio of the 
crypt underneath the main altar. After the in-
ventio the tomb with fenestella (which accord-
ing to Salet dated from the ninth century) was 
then placed in the church and transformed into 
an altar, while the relics were placed in the reli-
quaries donated by King Louis IX.66 The exact 
setting of the inventio and the locus of the relics, 
however, is not clear. The location, where ac-

cording to tradition the relics were disposed, 
likely refers to the tomb of Mary Magdalene in 
the crypt. Both crypt and tomb, however, are 
not mentioned in the description of the cer-
emony. Instead we are told that a metal box 
containing the relics was exhumed from un-
derneath the main altar. This probably refers to 
the confessio niche in the crypt, but it could also 
refer to a cavity or space in, or under, the main 
altar.67 The latter option would imply that at a 
certain point in time between 1165 and 1265 a 
(part of ) the relics were translated to the up-
per floor of the church. Because the inventio 
was followed by a translatio, and because it is 
mentioned that so few relics were displayed in 
the church that some pilgrims questioned their 
presence, it is likely that with the translatio (a 
part of ) the relics were visibly exhibited in the 
choir.

Despite the events of 1265‑67, the pilgrimage 
to Vézelay eventually came to a halt. It was, in 
the end, Saint-Maximin in Provence who suc-
ceeded in claiming the possession of the relics 
of Mary Magdalene after they found her body 
in one of the sarcophaguses in the crypt of the 
Church of St Maximin on 9 December 1279.68 
In 1289, however, Pope Nicholas IV, confirmed 
the presence of the relics in Vézelay.69 Finally, to 
the cost of Vézelay, in 1295 Pope Boniface VIII 
authenticated the invention of the relics at Saint-
Maximin.70

The written sources on the cult of Mary 
Magdalene in Vézelay attest that her relics 
rested in the Romanesque church on top of 
the hill, supposedly from the ninth century 
on. These same sources, however, also report 
that from the beginning there was doubt about 
the presence of the relics because of their ori-
gin, their small number, their limited visibility 
and the ‘unworthy’ setting in which they were 
presented. Neither does the material evidence 
point to a monumental manifestation of the 
‘much honoured tomb’ that is mentioned in 
the pilgrim’s guide to Santiago de Composte-
la. In the sculptural decoration of the church 
there were no references to Mary Magdalene 
except for a minor scene on the lintel of the 
tympanum and a statue in the apex of the ga-
ble of the façade, the latter from a rather late 
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date. Moreover, in the Middle Ages the church 
that is now known as ‘La Madeleine’ was not 
exclusively dedicated to the female saint. It 
seems that because the appropriation of Mary 
Magdalene was in the end not convincingly 

delivered, Provence could successfully claim 
the possession of the whole body of the saint 
and Vézelay, in its turn, could not keep the 
memory of the presence of the relics of Mary 
Magdalene alive.
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